© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Current Issues in the Immunoprophylaxis of Vertical Transmission of HIV

John S. Lambert¹ and Jack Moye, Jr²

- 1 University of Maryland Institute of Human Virology, Division of Clinical Research, Baltimore, Maryland, USA
- 2 National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, Center for Research for Mothers and Children, Pediatric, Adolescent and Maternal AIDS Branch, Bethesda, Maryland, USA

Contents

Abstract
1. Mechanisms of and Risk Factors for Transmission
2. Rationale for Immunological Interventions
3. The Immune System and Vertical Transmission
4. Interruption of Maternal-Fetal Transmission
5. Passive and Active Immunotherapy to Interrupt Maternal-Fetal Transmission
6. HIV Immunoglobulin
6.1 ACTG 185
6.2 Monoclonal Antibody Studies
7. Phase I HIV Vaccine Trials in Pregnant Women and Newborns
8. Conclusion

Abstract

Humoral immunity is thought to play an important role in the natural history of HIV infection. It has been hypothesised that the presence of high titre neutralising antibody may protect against the maternal-fetal transmission of HIV-1 infection. HIV-Ig is a passive antibody preparation consisting of highly purified immune globulin containing high titres of antibody to HIV structural proteins. It contains considerable functional antibody in virus neutralisation and antibody dependent cytotoxicity assays. This product (and others) have undergone extensive investigation in preclinical (in vitro and animal models) and clinical trials. In a randomised, double-blind trial, pregnant women with HIV infection who were receiving antiretroviral therapy received either HIV-Ig or control intravenous Ig. While transmission rate was 5 to 6% in both treatment and control arms (sample size was too small to show a difference), infected infants who received HIV-Ig had a delayed time to culture positivity versus those receiving intravenous Ig, suggesting that HIV-Ig may have the ability to modify disease but not prevent infection. While this study did not prove an effect of HIV-Ig it did prove an effect of antiretroviral therapy in a population of women with prior zidovudine experience. Passive antibody preparations (HIV-Ig and monoclonal antibodies) may have the potential to decrease perinatal transmission in combination with antiretroviral agents, to levels less than 5%. Special niches where immunoglobulins 32

and HIV vaccines may play a role, include treatment of infants born to women who do not receive prenatal care, or where the diagnosis of HIV in mother and infant is made only following delivery: a post-exposure prophylaxis strategy.

Globally, the World Health Organization estimates that 3.5 million women, most of whom are of childbearing age, have been infected with HIV-1. More than 1 million of their children have acquired infection perinatally. An estimated 3000 additional women become infected every day.[1] By the year 2000, as many as 5 to 10 million children will be infected, over three-quarters of cases occurring in the developing world, particularly sub-Saharan Africa. Thus, perinatal HIV-1 infection represents a significant global public health problem and prevention of vertical transmission is a high public health priority. Understanding the pathogenesis of perinatal transmission is crucial for the design of new preventative and therapeutic interventions.

1. Mechanisms of and Risk Factors for Transmission

A better understanding of the mechanism and timing of mother-to-child transmission of HIV infection is important to assist with the design of therapeutic interventions to decrease vertical transmission. The mechanisms of viral transmission at the cellular and molecular levels are not known with certainty. Clinical and laboratory evidence suggests several possible routes of infection, including transplacental, fetal exposure to infected maternal body fluids at delivery and breast feeding.

Advanced maternal disease status, as measured by clinical stage, decreased CD4+ cell count and increased viral burden, have been found to correlate with transmission of HIV.^[2-11] The amount of maternal virus (viral load) appears to correlate with transmission risk somewhat more reliably than clinical or immunological indicators, though all are less than perfect surrogates.

Recently, with the availability of HIV RNA viral

load measurements, researchers have found higher mean levels of HIV RNA among transmitters of the virus than nontransmitters. A study by Thea et al.^[12] found mean HIV RNA copy numbers of 7200 and 15 300 among nontransmitters and transmitters respectively, with an odds ratio of 5.4 for transmission among women with viral loads above the threshold of detection. There were no differences in HIV RNA copy numbers when zidovudine recipients and nonrecipients were compared. There was a strong effect of viral load among those mothers with early disease and no effect among those with advanced disease. However, it has been difficult to determine an absolute viral load threshold for mother-to-child transmission, and nearly every study has reported transmission from mothers who had undetectable HIV RNA, as well as mothers with very high levels of HIV RNA who did not transmit the virus. A recent meta-analysis of this subject was presented by Contopoulos-Ioannidis et al.^[13] Their review, which included 9 cohorts and 1115 mother-infant pairs, concluded that HIV RNA is a 'strong predictor of the average risk in groups of untreated mothers, but a modest to poor predictor of transmission for individual treated mothers'.^[13]

Factors that enhance fetal exposure to maternal blood or body fluids may play a pivotal role in perinatal transmission. Investigators have reported an increased risk of transmission in seropositive women who develop chorioamnionitis,^[8,14] or have other sexually transmitted diseases (STDs).^[10,14] In addition, several observational studies have revealed an association between the risk of vertical transmission and duration of rupture of membranes.^[4,15-18] Clinical evidence that fetal exposure to maternal body fluids may play a role in vertical transmission is provided by observational studies

and meta-analyses that, overall, indicated an increased risk of transmission observed in women who deliver vaginally.^[19,20]

Other potential risk factors for transmission include cigarette smoking,^[15] low maternal vitamin A level,^[21] multiple sexual partners,^[22] premature birth,^[23] post term pregnancy,^[24] positive maternal HIV blood cultures at delivery^[16,25] and the use of invasive procedures during labour and delivery.^[2,26] Most of the analyses described above were performed before the results of the AIDS Clinincal trials Group (ACTG) study 076 were published (see section 4), when most women were not receiving antiretroviral therapy. A recent analysis of ACTG 185, in which all women received prophylactic zidovudine (ZDV), evaluated risk factors for perinatal transmission in women/infants in this study.^[27] Utilising multivariate logistic regression models, this analysis found that only HIV RNA levels both at entry to the trial and at delivery were significantly associated with transmission of the virus. However, since not all women who are infected with HIV and pregnant may have the benefit of receiving available antiretroviral therapy, the 'pre-076' analysis of risk factors will continue to be relevant for many women.

2. Rationale for Immunological Interventions

The maternal humoral and/or cellular immune response to HIV may play a role in preventing perinatal transmission in one or more of the following ways: antibodies might act to neutralise or otherwise destroy the virus, either in the mother or after transplacental or intrapartum exposure, while cellmediated immunity might reduce maternal viral load and hence the risk of transmission.^[28] If antibodies can be identified that neutralise a broad range of viruses, then these antibodies can perform one of three different functions: neutralising antibody can kill extracellular virus; antibody-dependent cell mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) can kill HIV infected cells by a cooperation between antibody and effector cells; and complement-fixing

© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

antibody can involve complement to carry out lysis of HIV infected cells.

Monoclonal antibodies or monovalent recombinant vaccines, if able to produce such antibody responses, could be capable of providing protection. If, on the other hand, neutralisation of a wide range of viral variants without identifiable common target antigens is required, multivalent preparations combining several different monoclonal antibodies, polyvalent anti-HIV sera or multivalent vaccines may be required.

3. The Immune System and Vertical Transmission

Congenital or perinatal HIV infection is acquired by transmission from mother to fetus or infant during gestation or parturition. Several lines of evidence suggest that factors protective against maternal-infant transmission include higher levels or specific types (or both) of endogenous maternal antibodies directed against HIV. While not all researchers have been consistent in their findings,^[29,30] a number of studies have indicated lower transmission rates from infected pregnant women with high antibody titre or with high-affinity/avidity to conserved portions of HIV-1 glycoprotein 41,^[31] to the CD4 binding site^[32] or the V3 loop of glycoprotein 120,^[4,33-35] or to p24 *gag* protein.^[36]

Maternal neutralising antibody may be an important determinant of protection. Several investigators have reported that nontransmitting mothers more frequently have such an antibody to their own virus than do transmitting mothers, and that transmitting mothers infrequently have neutralising antibody against their child's own isolate.^[37-39] Sera from mothers with autologous neutralising antibody frequently have antibodies that also neutralise heterologous primary isolates.^[37]

The level and specificity of maternal HIV-1 specific antibody may affect maternal-fetal transmission of HIV infection. However, in the numerous studies published since 1990, decreases, increases and no differences in the rate of perinatal transmis-

BioDrugs 1998 Jan; 11 (1)

Maternal neutralising antibody may be most accurately evaluated by testing maternal and infant viral isolates in parallel. This kind of evaluation, which has been done in several small mother-child cohorts, has shown that transmitting mothers had antibody to their own virus less frequently than did nontransmitting mothers.^[37,39] Additionally, the serum of transmitting mothers is rarely capable of neutralising their child's viral isolate and, in one case, maternal antibody enhanced infectivity of infant virus in vitro. However, in another small study that adjusted for maternal CD4+ cell count, no differences in titres of autologous HIV-1 antibody, viral load and syncytium-inducing phenotype between transmitting and nontransmitting mothers were seen.^[41] Studies in larger populations will be required to elucidate the role of HIV-1-specific antibody in transmission. Neutralising antibody may be important in protection against infection from cell-free virus but not cell-associated virus. In an in vitro infection system, monoclonal HIV-1 V3 antibody completely prevented infection with cell-free virus, but inhibition was not observed when cell-to-cell transfer of virions was the primary mechanism of infection.^[42]

Few studies have evaluated the role of maternal cellular immune response to HIV-1. The presence of maternal HIV-1 specific ADCC has not been associated with protection against transmission, although infected children who had evidence of ADCC in their blood had a better prognosis than those without ADCC.^[43,44]

One of the studies which simultaneously measured and provided a correlation between vertical transmission, maternal viral load and plasma levels of CD4 binding site anti-gp120 antibodies was reported by Khouri et al.^[32] This study compared 18 women with infected infants and 29 women whose infants seroreverted. Significant differences between groups were observed in the levels of CD4 binding site antibody, as measured by the ability of diluted maternal plasma to inhibit binding of the CD4 binding site monoclonal antibody F-105 to monomeric gp120. A correlation was found between low inhibition levels of antibodies that overlap the F-105 binding sites and vertical transmission. In addition, there was a trend towards lower levels of antibodies that block CD4 binding to gp120 in transmitters compared with nontransmitters. Finally, these nontransmitting mothers had low viral load, as measured by 2 or more negative viral cultures during pregnancy as compared with transmitters.

This class of neutralising antibodies, which appear late in the course of HIV infection, are more broadly neutralising, interfere with the binding of gp120 to the CD4 receptor (CD4 binding site antibodies) and are important in that lack of these antibodies is associated with disease progression in adults (and, as described above, they are correlated with vertical transmission). It can be concluded, however, that 10 years or more into our research on the role of antibody in protection from maternal-fetal HIV transmission, the findings are clearly not conclusive and that such a strategy continues to be only a theoretical possibility.

4. Interruption of Maternal-Fetal Transmission

On 21 February 1994, the AIDS clinical trials group (ACTG) announced the preliminary results from their protocol 076, a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled clinical trial of ZDV to prevent HIV transmission from pregnant women to their infants.^[45] This trial demonstrated that a combination of prenatal, intrapartum and neonatal ZDV antiretroviral chemoprophylaxis can achieve a 67.5% reduction in transmission of HIV. Since that time, the 076 regimen has been widely adopted for this indication.

A recent secondary analysis^[46] reviewed the results of maternal HIV RNA measures at study entry and at labour and delivery. In the placebo group, a large viral burden at entry or delivery or a positive culture was associated with an increased risk of transmission (the transmission rate was greater than 40% in the highest quartile of RNA levels). In both groups, transmission occurred across the entire range of maternal plasma HIV RNA levels. While ZDV produced only minimal reduction in plasma HIV RNA levels (median 0.24 log), it was effective regardless of the HIV RNA level or the CD4+ cell count at entry. After adjustment for the baseline HIV RNA level and CD4+ cell count, the reduction in viral RNA from baseline to delivery in the ZDV group was not significantly associated with the risk of transmission.

Immunological data obtained at entry into the study were available for 400 mothers. Transmission rates in the placebo group increased as CD4+ cell counts decreased. The presence of a lower proportion of CD4+ cells and a higher proportion of CD8+ cells was associated with a higher risk of transmission in the placebo group, but not in the ZDV group.

In summary, neither the change in the plasma HIV RNA levels from entry to delivery nor a critical level of plasma HIV RNA at delivery accounted for the substantially reduced transmission rate of the ZDV group. Only a fraction of the treatment effect (9 to 17%) could be explained by the treatment-induced change in maternal RNA. Further evidence suggests that the protective effect of ZDV results at least in part from a mechanism other than the reduction of the maternal plasma viral burden.

Most importantly, despite our lack of understanding of the mechanism, data from field studies which have analysed HIV transmission 'post 076' document vertical transmission decreasing to the 5 to 10% range, even where women only received parts of the full 076 regimen.

5. Passive and Active Immunotherapy to Interrupt Maternal-Fetal Transmission

Studies of hepatitis B prevention give credence to the concept that immunoglobulin can prevent chronic viral infections. In a study in Taiwan in the 1970s, Beasley et al.^[23] gave high titred hepatitis B immune globulin to neonates whose mothers were chronic hepatitis B surface antigen carriers. There was a 75% reduction in the incidence of chronic infection in neonates who received 3 injections over 3 months, even though 75% of the treated infants had been transiently infected. Antibody thus had appeared to resolve an active hepatitis B infection. One difference in the analogy being presented between hepatitis B and HIV is that while hepatitis B surface antigen positive mothers demonstrate antibody to core antigen, they lack measurable antibody to surface antigen in their plasma, and thus this antibody is missing from the newborn infant; in contrast, with HIV there is measurable anti-HIV antibody to both core and surface (envelope) antigens in the newborn infant from passive maternal transfer.

Nonetheless, based on the results of studies such as the one by Beasley, the development and evaluation of hyperimmune anti-HIV immunoglobulin preparations for prevention or treatment of HIV infection and disease have received special attention.

Several studies in symptomatic HIV-infected adults treated with HIV hyperimmune globulin or plasma preparations,^[47-52] and in one child with AIDS who received passive immunotherapy with HIV immune plasma,^[53] have shown disappearance of p24 antigenaemia and inhibition of plasma viraemia. In some situations, suppression of virus was sustained and, in the Vittecoq study, was associated with clinical benefit in a group of HIVinfected adults.^[51] It is at present unclear, as previously summarised, whether increased levels of maternal anti-HIV antibodies, achieved either by passive administration of anti-HIV immunoglobulins or by active vaccination, can interrupt vertical transmission. However, in vitro data indicate that HIV immunoglobulins and HIV-specific monoclonal antibodies, especially when used in combination, have potent neutralisation capacity.

6. HIV Immunoglobulin

HIV immunoglobulin (HIV-Ig; manufactured as HIV-IGTM by NABI, Boca Raton, FL] is a prep-

aration of highly purified human immune globulin containing high titres of antibody to HIV structural proteins. It contains considerable functional activity in virus neutralisation and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity assays.^[54] This intravenous IgG solution is prepared from the plasma of multiple HIVseropositive donors from geographically diverse regions of the US who are selected according to strict clinical and biological criteria. Donors are clinically asymptomatic, maintain CD4+ T cell counts $\geq 400/\mu$ l, and are negative for HIV-1 p24 antigen, nonreactive for hepatitis B surface antigen and nonreactive for antibody to hepatitis C virus. The donor plasma contains high titres of anti-p24 antibody (a potential indicator of strong immune response to HIV).

By analogy with the demonstrated efficacy of immunoglobulins for the treatment and prevention of certain viral infectious diseases, studies were planned in the late 1980s (prior to the availability of human monoclonal antibodies), with the hypothesis that HIV-Ig may have similar potential to treat or prevent HIV infection.

6.1 ACTG 185

This clinical trial was designed as a phase III randomised, double-blind, controlled, multicentre study. The target sample size was 800 mother-infant pairs (720 evaluable pairs). Pregnant women with documented HIV infection were eligible for randomisation to HIV-Ig or intravenous Ig between 20 and 30 weeks of pregnancy (inclusive).

The primary question addressed by the trial was whether a combination of HIV-Ig and ZDV would significantly lower transmission in HIV-infected pregnant women with advanced disease compared with women who received ZDV with intravenous Ig.

Treatment consisted of HIV-Ig, 200 mg/kg by intravenous infusion every four weeks up to delivery, or standard polyvalent, HIV-antibody negative intravenous Ig, in the same dose and regimen. The newborn infant was to receive an intravenous infusion of HIV-Ig or intravenous Ig (200 mg/kg) within 12 hours of birth. All women and infants received the '076' regimen of ZDV.

The pharmacokinetic component of ACTG 185^[55] reported the safety and pharmacokinetics of hyperimmune anti-HIV immunoglobulin in HIV infected pregnant women and their newborns in the first 28 patients enrolled in ACTG protocol 185, of whom 12 received HIV-Ig and 16 received intravenous Ig. Mean volume of distribution (Vd) and plasma elimination half-life values for the first infusion were 72 ml/kg and 15 days, respectively, compared with 154 ml/kg and 32 days for the third infusions, suggesting accumulation of antibody with repeated administration and duration of pregnancy. Rapid sustained suppression of serum immune complex dissociated (ICD) p24 antigen from baseline (102 ng/L) was observed in HIV-Ig- but not intravenous Ig-treated women, and no increase in either serum ICD p24 antigen or quantitative HIV-1 RNA plasma levels were seen at trough p24 antibody concentrations (28 days after infusion), suggesting a sustained effect from the HIV-Ig infusions.

Following a single infusion in newborns, the mean terminal elimination half-life in HIV-Igtreated infants was 30 days, mean Vd was 143 ml/kg and mean total body clearance was 4.1 ml/kg/day. Substantially increased serum p24 antibody levels persisted for at least 28 days in HIV-Ig-treated, compared with intravenous Ig-treated, infants, which was deemed to be an effect of transplacentally acquired maternal antibody, as well as HIV-specific antibody received from intravenous infusion at birth. The results of the pilot tolerability and pharmacokinetic study described above, describing a favourable tolerability, pharmacokinetic and antiviral profile for HIV-Ig, gave hope that ACTG 185, the efficacy trial, would provide a successful result. However, the Data Safety and Monitoring Board (DSMB) of this study, at their planned efficacy review in December 1996, determined that because of an unexpectedly low overall transmission rate, the study would possess insufficient statistical power under the existing 800 maternal-infant pair sample size design to be able to detect an effect of HIV-Ig treatment, and recommended that further enrolment be halted.

Fifteen of 379 evaluable infants were determined to be infected with HIV, with a calculated overall transmission rate by Kaplan-Meier analysis of 4.8%.[56] Seven children were diagnosed as infected in the HIV-Ig arm (4.7%) and 8 children in the intravenous Ig arm (4.8%). Of note, 5 of the infected infants in the intravenous Ig arm exhibited HIV cultures positive at birth and none of the HIV-Ig-treated infants had positive cultures at birth (p = 0.026, Fisher's exact test). One interpretation of this finding is that it may represent an effect of HIV-Ig in modifying but not preventing disease in the infants. Such a delay to positivity is an effect similar to that which would be anticipated with other immunoglobulin preparations such as hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG), which does not prevent infection, but can modify hepatitis B disease. Further analysis of the infant samples is planned to better characterise the level of viremia in infected infants who received HIV-Ig and those who received intravenous Ig.

Preliminary data are available for one additional vertical transmission study of HIV-Ig which is ongoing in Uganda.^[57] HIV-Ig was administered at 37 weeks' gestation to 31 mothers and a single dose was given to 29 infants within 18 hours of birth. This was a dose escalation study for mothers and/or infants, with sequential 50 mg/kg, 200 mg/kg and 400 mg/kg infusions. Pre- and postinfusion, there was no evidence of a significant change in CD4+ cell counts or HIV RNA levels. Four of the 7 infected infants reported in this phase I/II study were HIV RNA positive at birth, 1 in the 50 mg/kg dose regimen, 3 in the 200 mg/kg dose regimen, and none in the 400 mg/kg dose regimen, with transmission rates at 6 weeks of 20%, 40% and 11%, respectively. Despite the suggestion of reduced transmission in the high dose group, the sample size for this part of the study was too small to evaluate efficacy.

6.2 Monoclonal Antibody Studies

A recent study by Mascola et al.^[58] reported the in vitro activity of HIV and a number of monoclonal antibodies (MoAbs; 2F5, 2G12) that bind to distinct regions of the HIV envelope glycoprotein. The antibodies were initially tested against a panel of 15 clade B HIV isolates using a single concentration that is achievable in vivo (HIV-Ig, 2500 µg/ml; MoAbs, 25 µg/ml). Individual antibody reagents neutralised many of the viruses tested, but antibody potency varied substantially among viruses. The virus neutralisation produced by double combinations of HIV-Ig plus 2F5 or 2G12, the 2 MoAbs together, or triple combinations of HIV-Ig/2F5/2G12 were generally equal to, or greater than, that predicted by the effect of individual antibodies. Overall, triple combinations displayed the greatest magnitude and breadth of neutralisation.

In several of the experiments presented, the triple antibody combination appeared to completely prevent infection of peripheral blood mononuclear cells by 100% at a viral dose 50% of the tissue culture infectious dose (TCID₅₀), i.e. a >99% neutralisation of infectious virus.

The mechanism of synergistic interactions among these 3 antibody reagents, one of which is polyclonal, is likely to be complex. Mab 2G12 inhibits the interaction of gp120 with the beta chemokine receptor CCR5, while Mab 2F5 appears to affect the conformation of the gp41 fusion domain and thus inhibit virus-cell fusion. The synergistic effects seen in these studies are likely to be a consequence of the complementary activities of these 2 monoclonal antibodies together with the functionally diverse spectrum of anti-envelope antibodies present in HIV-Ig.

The improved magnitude and breadth of neutralisation demonstrated by combining neutralising monoclonal antibodies with HIV-Ig suggests that such antibody combinations may be more effective than individual agents when used as passive immunotherapy for HIV. Preliminary unpublished data from this same group, using non clade B viral

37

isolates, have shown potent neutralising abilities with these clade B generated monoclonal antibodies and HIV-Ig. A second group of researchers, published by Li et al.[59] have done similar studies with a panel of 14 human IgG monoclonal antibodies and HIV-Ig. Their panel included monoclonal combinations including the anti-CD4 binding site, and their findings were similar to that of Mascola, with synergistic neutralisation by combination antibodies in vitro. The authors describe studies in rhesus monkeys where CD4-specific antibodies were capable of significantly reducing simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV_{mac}) load in infected monkeys and suggest that combinations of V3 MoAbs, anti-CD4bd MoAbs and V3 loop antibodies are capable of providing conformational changes at neutralising epitopes with resultant synergistic antibody activity.

7. Phase I HIV Vaccine Trials in Pregnant Women and Newborns

ACTG 230, a study administering recombinantgp120 vaccines to infants born to HIV-infected women, has recently been completed.[60-62] In this trial, infants received the Chiron gp120-SF2, Vaxgen gp120-MN or control vaccine at weeks 0, 4, 12 and 20 following delivery. Vaccines were well tolerated, with an overall transmission rate of 8%. Lymphoproliferative responses to recombinant antigens were detected in 30 to 80% of vaccinees (but not in control recipients), with many responses persisting at 2 years. Humoral responses were seen at 12 and 24 weeks in vaccinees, but not in control recipients. Future trials will evaluate accelerated schedules and administration of candidate HIV vaccines capable of eliciting cytotoxic T cell responses such as the ALVACTM recombinant HIV vaccines (ACTG 326). This preventive strategy continues to be an important area of future clinical trials research.

ACTG 235 was a phase I safety and immunogenicity study, where a recombinant gp120 vaccine (MN strain) was administered during pregnancy to HIV-infected women with a CD4+ count >400 cells/µl.^[63] One-third of patients received placebo (alum) alone. While this study proved the vaccine to be well tolerated, no immunogenicity was detected as measured by HIV-specific antibody responses. These unimpressive results are similar to the experience of other recombinant gp120 and gp160 vaccines administered to HIV-infected adults as a form of immunotherapy.

8. Conclusion

Humoral immunity is thought to play an important role in the natural history of HIV infection. Based on this concept, and on the previous success with this strategy for other infectious diseases, HIV-specific immunoglobulins have been developed and tested extensively in vitro, in animal models and in human clinical trials. Passively administered or actively induced antibodies can theoretically be used to prevent or treat HIV infection in several ways. They include pre-exposure prophylaxis with antibody to prevent infection before it has occurred (i.e. the treatment of HIV-infected pregnant women to prevent infection of their babies), post-exposure prophylaxis to prevent or limit HIV infection after exposure (i.e. management of perinatally exposed neonates or of healthcare workers immediately after needlestick exposures to HIV infected blood) or therapeutic immunisation to modify the course of infection in HIVinfected persons. Ideally, antibodies elicited by an HIV vaccine should be able to prevent infection by different transmission routes or, failing that, abort infection, limit transmissibility to others or modify disease. To date, the only effective utility of anti-HIV-specific antibody has been one of therapeutic use, although the results have been only modest in nature.

The astounding success of 076, a 'chemotherapeutic vaccine' has been a good first step to reduce maternal fetal transmission of HIV infection. However, there continues to be a significant transmission risk (5 to 10%) even when ZDV is administered according to the 076 regimen, underscoring the need for development of preventive treatment regimens of greater effectiveness. Immunoglobulins and vaccines may find a special treatment niche with infants born to women who do not receive prenatal care, or where the diagnosis of HIV in mother and infant is made only following delivery. In these situations, vaccines and immunoglobulins may be an alternative or important adjunct to antiretroviral therapy for post-exposure prophylaxis/treatment of the infant. Such products should be capable of inactivating a broad range of HIV isolates, and should have activity against non clade B isolates. Cocktails of HIV-Ig spiked with a variety of MoAbs (anti-V3 loop, anti-CD4 binding site, anti-gp41), based on currently available in vitro data, may be the best candidates for future clinical trials.

References

- United Nations Development Programme. Young women: silence, susceptibility and the HIV epidemic. Pediatr AIDS HIV Infection 1994; 5: 1-9
- European Collaborative Study: Risk factors for mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. Lancet 1992; 339: 1007
- Gabiano C, Tovo PA, de Martino M, et al. Mother-to-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: risk of infection and correlates of transmission. Pediatrics 1992; 90: 369
- Goedert JJ, Mendez H, Drummond JE, et al. Mother-to-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: association with prematurity or low anti-gp120. Lancet 1989; 2: 1351-4
- Lindgren S, Angen B, Bohlin A, et al. HIV and child-bearing: clinical outcome and aspects of mother-to-infants transmission. AIDS 1991; 5: 1111
- Blanche S, Mayaux MJ, Rouzioux C, et al: Relation of the course of HIV infection in children to the severity of the disease in their mothers at delivery. N Engl J Med 1994; 330: 308
- Rouzioux C, Costagliola D, Burgard M, et al. Timing of motherto-child HIV-1 transmission depends on maternal status. AIDS 1993; 7 Suppl. 2: S49-52
- St Louis M, Kamenga M, Brown C, et al. Risk for perinatal HIV-1 transmission according to maternal immunologic, virologic, and placental factors. JAMA 1993; 269: 2853
- Tovo P, Martino M, Gabiano C, et al. Prognostic factors and survival in children with perinatal HIV-1 transmission. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1996; 11: 84
- Lepage P, Msellati P, Van de Perre P, et al. Mother-to-child transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and its determinants. A cohort study in Kigali, Rwanda. Am J Epidemiol 1993; 137: 589

- Abrams EJ, Matheson P, Thomas P, et al. Neonatal predictors of infection status and early death among 322 infants at risk of HIV-1 infection monitored prospectively from birth. Pediatrics 1995; 96: 451
- Thea DM, Steketee RW, Pliner V, et al. The effect of maternal viral load on the risk of perinatal transmission of HIV-1. New York City Perinatal HIV Transmission Collaborative Study Group. AIDS 1997 March; 11(4): 437-44
- Contopoulos-Ioannidis DG, Ioannidis JPA. Maternal cell-free viremia in the natural history of perinatal HIV-1 transmission: a meta-analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1998 Jun; 18 (2): 126-35
- Nair P, Alger L, Hines S, et al. Maternal and neonatal characteristics associated with HIV infection in infants of seropositive women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1993; 6: 298
- Burns DN, Landesman S, Muenz LR, et al. Cigarette smoking, premature rupture of membranes and vertical transmission of HIV-1 among women with low CD4+ levels. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1994; 7: 718
- Landesman SH, Kalish LA, Burns DN, et al. Obstetrical factors and the transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from mother to child. N Engl J Med 1996; 334: 1617
- Mandelbrot L, Mayaux MJ, Bongain A, et al. Obstetrical factors and mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996; 175: 661
- Minkoff H, Burns DN, Landesman S, et al. The relationship of the duration of ruptured membranes to vertical transmission of HIV. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1995; 173: 585
- Dunn DT, Newell M, Mayaux MJ, et al. Mode of delivery and vertical transmission of HIV-1: A review of prospective studies. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1994; 7: 1064
- Thomas P, Weedon J, Krasinki K, et al. Maternal predictors of perinatal human immunodeficiency virus transmission. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1994; 13: 489
- Semba RD, Miotti PG, Chiphangwi JD, et al. Maternal vitamin A deficiency and mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. Lancet 1994; 343: 1593
- Bulterys M, Chao A, Dushimimana A, et al. Multiple sexual partners and mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. AIDS 1993; 7: 1639
- Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Stevens CE, et al. Efficacy of hepatitis B immune globulin for prevention of perinatal transmission of hepatitis B virus carrier state: final report of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Hepatology 1983; 3: 135-41
- 24. St Louis M, Pau CP, Nsuami M, et al. Lack of association between anti-V3 loop antibody and perinatal HIV-1 transmission in Kinshasa, Zaire, despite use of assays based on local HIV-1 strains. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1994; 7: 63
- Rodriquez E, Mofenson L, Chang B, et al. Association of maternal drug use during pregnancy with maternal HIV culture positivity and perinatal HIV transmission. AIDS 1996; 10: 273
- Boyer P, Dillon M, Navaie M, et al. Factors predictive of maternal-fetal transmission of HIV-1. JAMA 1994; 271: 1925

- 27. Lambert, J, Mofenson L, Stiehm ER, et al. Risk factors for perinatal HIV transmission in women/infants receiving standard zidovudine prophylaxis [oral session #467]. 12th World AIDS Conference; 1998 Jun 28-Jul 3; Geneva, Switzerland
- Mofenson L. Mother-to-child HIV-1 transmission: timing and determinants. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am 1997. In press
- 29. Parekh BS, Shaffer N, Pau CP, et al. Lack of correlation between maternal antibodies to V3 loop peptides of gp120 and perinatal HIV-1 transmission. AIDS 1991; 5: 1179-84
- 30. Geffin RB, Lai SH, Hutto C, et al. Quantitative analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 antibody reactivity by western immunoblots: evaluation of relative antibody levels in seropositive individuals and mothers. J Infect Dis 1992; 165: 111-8
- 31. Ugen KE, Boedert JJ, Boyer J, et al. Vertical transmission of HIV infection: correlation with reactivity of maternal sera with glycoprotein 120 and gp41 peptides from HIV type 1. J Clin Invest 1992; 89: 1923-30
- Khouri YF, McIntosh K, Cavacini L, et al. Vertical transmission of HIV-1. Correlation with maternal viral load and plasma levels of CD4 binding site anti-gp120 antibodies. J Clin Invest 1995; 95: 732-7
- 33. Rossi P, Moschese V, Broliden PA, et al. Presence of maternal antibodies to human immunodeficiency virus 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120 epitopes correlates with the noninfective status of children born to seropositive mothers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1989; 86: 8055-8
- Brolinden PA, Moschese V, Ljunggrenn K, et al. Diagnostic implication of specific immunoglobulin G patterns of children born to HIV-infected mothers. AIDS 1989; 3: 577-82
- 35. Devash Y, Calvelli T, Wood DG, et al. Vertical transmission of HIV is correlated with absence of high affinity/avidity maternal antibodies to the gp120 principal neutralizing domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990; 87: 3445-9
- 36. Erb P, Krauchi S, Burgin D, et al. Quantitative anti-p24 determinations can predict the risk of vertical transmission. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1994; 7: 261-4
- 37. Scarletti G, Leitner T, Halapi E, et al. Comparison of variable region 3 sequences of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from infected children with the RNA and DNA sequences of the virus populations of their mothers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993; 90: 1721
- Bryson Y, Lehman D, Garratty E, et al. The role of maternal autologous neutralizing antibody in prevention of maternal fetal HIV-1 transmission [abstract QZ005]. J Cell Biochem 1993; Suppl. 17E: 95
- Kliks SC, Wara DW, Landers DV, et al. Features of HIV-1 that could influence maternal-child transmission. JAMA 1994; 272: 467-74
- Mofenson LM. Epidemiology and determinants of vertical HIV transmission. Sem Pediatr Infect Dis 1994; 5: 252-65
- Husson RN, Lan Y, Kojima E, et al. Vertical transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: autologous neutralizing antibody, virus load, and virus phenotype. J Pediatr 1995; 126: 865-71

- Pantaleo G, Demarest JF, Vaccarezza M, et al. Effect of anti-V3 antibodies on cell-free and cell-to-cell human immunodeficiency virus transmission. Eur J Immunol 1995; 25: 226-31
- 43. Jenkins M, Landers D, Williams-Herman D, et al. Association between anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity antibody titers at birth and vertical transmission of HIV-1. J Infect Dis 1994; 170: 308-12
- 44. Ljunggren K, Moschese V, Borliden PA, et al. Antibodies mediating cellular cytotoxicity and neutralization correlate with better clinical stage in children born to human immunodeficiency virus infected mothers. J Infect Dis 1990; 161: 198-202
- 45. Conner EM, Sperling RS, Gelbert R, et al. Reduction of maternal-infant transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with zidovudine treatment. N Engl J Med 1994; 331: 1173-80
- 46. Sperling RS, Shapiro DE, Coombs RW, et al. Maternal viral load, zidovudine treatment, and the risk of transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from mother to infant. N Engl J Med 1996; 335 (22): 1621-9
- Jackson GG, Rubenic M, Knigge M, et al. Passive immunoneutralization of HIV patients with advanced AIDS. Lancet 1989; 2: 647-51
- Karpas A, Hill F, Youle M, et al. Effects of passive immunization in patients with AIDS related complex and AIDS. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988; 85: 9234-7
- Osther K, Wiik A, Black F, et al. PASSHIV-1 treatment of patients with HIV-1 infection. A preliminary report of a phase 1 trial of hyperimmune porcine immunoglobulin to HIV-1. AIDS 1992; 6: 1457-64
- 50. Levy J, Youvan T, Lee ML. Passive hyperimmune plasma therapy in the treatment of acquired immunedeficiency syndrome: results of a 12-month multicenter double-blind controlled trial. The Passive Hyperimmune Therapy Study Group. Blood 1994; 84: 2130-5
- 51. Vittecoq D, Chevret S, Morand-Joubert L, et al. Passive immunotherapy in AIDS: a double-blind randomized study based on transfusions of plasma rich in anti-human immunodeficiency virus 1 antibodies vs. transfusions of seronegative plasma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92: 1195-9
- Fletcher CV, Goodroad BK, Cummins L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of hyperimmune anti-human immunodeficiency virus immunoglobulins in persons with AIDS. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1997; 41 (7): 1571-4
- Wong VK, Gillette SG, Roth MJ, et al. Passive immunotherapy in a child with acquired immunedeficiency syndrome. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1993; 12: 947-51
- 54. Cummins LM, Weinholt KJ, Matthews TJ, et al. Preparation and characterization of an intravenous solution of IgG from human immunodeficiency virus-seropositive donors. Blood 1991; 77: 1111-7
- 55. Lambert JS, Mofenson LM, Fletcher CV, et al. Safety and pharmacokinetics of hyperimmune anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) immunoglobulin administered to HIV-infected pregnant women and their newborns. JID 1997; 175: 283-91

- 56. Stiehm ER, Lambert JS, Mofenson LM, et al. Efficacy of zidovudine and hyperimmune HIV immunoglobulin for reducing perinatal disease: results of Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trials Group protocol 185. J Infect Dis 1998. In press
- 57. Guay L, Musoke P, Mrniro F, et al. Phase I/II Trial of HIVIG for the prevention of HIV-1 vertical transmission in Uganda. 5th Conference on Global Strategies for the Prevention of HIV Transmission from Mothers to Infants [abstract]. 1997 Sept; Washington, DC
- 58. Mascola JR, Louder MK, VanCott TC, et al. Potent and synergistic neutralization of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 primary isolates by hyperimmune anti-HIV immunoglobulin combined with monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 2G12. J Virol 1997; 71 (10): 7198-206
- 59. Li A, Baba TW, Sodroski J, et al. Synergistic neutralization of a chimeric SIV/HIV type 1 virus with combinations of human anti-HIV type 1 envelope monoclonal antibodies or hyperimmune globulins. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1997; 13 (8): 647-56
- 60. Borkowsky W, Wara D, MacNamara J, et al. Lymphoproliferative responses to rec. HIV-1 envelope antigens in neonates and infants receiving gp120 vaccines [abstract]. 5th Confer-

ence on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; 1998 Feb 1-5: Chicago (IL)

- 61. McFarland EJ, Borkowsky W, Wara D, et al. Humoral immune responses to recombinant HIV- envelope antigens in newborns receiving gp120 vaccines [abstract]. 5th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections, 1998 Jan; Chicago (IL)
- 62. Cunningham CK, Wara DW, Fenton T, et al. Safety of recombinant HIV-1 envelope vaccines in neonates born to HIV-1 infected women [abstract]. 5th Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; 1998 Feb 1-5: Chicago (IL)
- 63. Wright PF, Lambert JS, Hsieh RH, et al. Safety and Immunogenicity of Envelope MN rgp120 vaccine in HIV-1 infected pregnant women. In press

Correspondence and reprints: Dr John S. Lambert, Institute of Human Virology NIH, NICHD, Center for Research for University of Maryland at Baltimore, 725 West Lombard Street, S521, MD, USA. E-mail: lambert@umbi.umd.edu